BYLAWS OF ALTURAS HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

ARTICLE I - INTRODUCTION

The name of the corporation is Alturas Homeowners Association, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the "Association". The principal office of the Association shall be located initially in Bexar County, Texas, but meetings of Members and Directors may be held at such places within the State of Texas as may be designated by the Board of Directors as provided in these Bylaws.

The Association is organized to be a nonprofit corporation.

ARTICLE II - DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms used but not defined in these Bylaws shall have the meaning subscribed to such terms in the Declaration of Protective Covenants for Alturas at the Dominion, a planned unit Subdivision, as recorded in Volume 16540, Page 287, Official Public Records of Bexar County, Texas (the "**Declaration**").

ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP, MEETINGS, QUORUM, VOTING, PROXIES

- <u>Section 3.1. Membership</u>. Each Owner of a Lot is a mandatory Member of the Association, as more fully set forth in the Declaration.
- <u>Section 3.2. Place of Meetings.</u> Meetings of the Association shall be held where designated by the Board, either within the Subdivision or as convenient as possible and practical.
- <u>Section 3.3. Annual Meetings</u>. There shall be an annual meeting of the Members of the Association for the purposes of Association-wide elections or votes and for such other Association business at such reasonable place, date and time as set by the Board.
- <u>Section 3.4. Special Meetings.</u> Special meetings of Members may be called in accordance with Section 22.155 of the Texas Business Organizations Code or any successor statute.
- Section 3.5. Notice of Meetings. Unless effected as otherwise provided herein or in the Declaration, written or printed notice stating the place, day, and hour of any meeting of the Members shall be at the direction of the secretary or other person authorized to call such meeting by electronic mail (e-mail) distribution, some other form of electronic transmission, or personally or by mail, to each Member entitled to vote at such meeting, not less than ten nor more than fifty (50) days before the date of such meeting. Such notice shall be addressed to the Member at his or her physical e-mail (as applicable) address or other information intended to facilitate another form of electronic transmission as same appears on the records of the Association at the time of mailing. In the case of a special meeting or when otherwise required by statute or these Bylaws, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called shall be stated in the notice. No business shall be transacted at a special meeting except as stated in the notice. If mailed, the notice of a meeting shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail addressed to the Member at his address as it appears on the records of the Association, with postage prepaid.

<u>Section 3.6. Waiver of Notice.</u> Waiver of notice of a meeting of the Members shall be deemed the equivalent of proper notice. Any Member may, in writing, waive notice of any meeting of the Members, either before or after such meeting. Attendance at a meeting by a Member shall be deemed waiver by

such Member of notice of the time, date, and place thereof, unless such Member specifically objects to lack of proper notice at the time the meeting is called to order. Attendance at a special meeting by a Member shall be deemed waiver of notice of all business transacted at such meeting unless an objection by a Member on the basis of lack of proper notice is raised before the business is put to a vote.

<u>Section 3.7. Quorum.</u> Except as provided in these Bylaws or in the Declaration, the presence of the Members representing forty percent (40%) of the Members in the Association shall constitute a quorum at all Association meetings.

<u>Section 3.8. Conduct of Meetings</u>. The President or any other person appointed by the Board shall preside over all Association meetings, and the Secretary, or the Secretary's designee, shall keep the minutes of the meeting and record in a minute book all resolutions adopted at the meeting, as well as a record of all transactions occurring at the meeting.

Section 3.9. Voting. Except as otherwise provided in the Declaration, action may be taken at any legally convened meeting of the Members upon the affirmative vote of the Members having a Majority of the total votes present at such meeting in person or proxy or by absentee ballot or electronic ballot, if such votes are considered present at the meeting as further set forth herein. The person holding legal title to a Lot shall be entitled to cast the vote allocated to such Lot and not the person merely holding beneficial title to the same unless such right is expressly delegated to the beneficial Owner thereof in writing. Any provision in the Association's governing documents that would disqualify a Member from voting in an Association election of Board Members or on any matter concerning the rights or responsibilities of the Member is void.

Section 3.10. Methods of Voting: In Person; Proxies; Absentee Ballots; Electronically. On any matter as to which a Member is entitled individually to cast the vote for his Lot, such vote may be cast or given: (a) in person or by proxy at a meeting of the Association; (b) by absentee ballot; or (c) by electronic ballot. Any vote cast in an election or vote by a Member of the Association must be in writing and signed by the Member. Electronic votes constitute written and signed ballots. Votes shall be cast as provided in this section:

- (a) Proxies. Any Member may give a revocable written proxy in the form as prescribed by the Board from time to time to any person authorizing such person to cast the Member's vote on any matter. A Member's vote by proxy is subject to any limitations of Texas law relating to the use of general proxies and subject to any specific provision to the contrary in the Declaration or these Bylaws. No proxy shall be valid unless signed by the Member for which it is given or his duly authorized attorney-in-fact, dated, and filed with the Secretary of the Association prior to the meeting for which it is to be effective. Proxies shall be valid only for the specific meeting for which given and for lawful adjournments of such meeting. In no event shall a proxy be valid more than 11 months after the effective date of the proxy. Every proxy shall be revocable and shall automatically cease upon conveyance of the Lot for which it was given.
- (b) Absentee and Electronic Ballots. An absentee or electronic ballot: (i) may be counted as a Member present and voting for the purpose of establishing a quorum only for items appearing on the ballot; (ii) may not be counted, even if properly delivered, if the Member attends any meeting to vote in person, so that any vote cast at a meeting by a Member supersedes any vote submitted by absentee or electronic ballot previously submitted for that proposal; and (iii) may not be counted on the final vote of a proposal if the proposal was amended at the meeting to be different from the exact language on the absentee or electronic ballot.

- (i) Absentee Ballots. No absentee ballot shall be valid unless it is in writing, signed by the Member for which it is given or his duly authorized attorney-infact, dated, and filed with the Secretary of the Association prior to the meeting for which it is to be effective. Absentee ballots shall be valid only for the specific meeting for which given and for lawful adjournments of such meeting. In no event shall an absentee ballot be valid after the specific meeting or lawful adjournment of such meeting at which such ballot is counted or upon conveyance of the Lot which it was given. Any solicitation for votes by absentee ballot must include:
 - a. an absentee ballot that contains each proposed action and provides an opportunity to vote for or against each proposed action;
 - b. instructions for delivery of the completed absentee ballot, including the delivery location; and
 - c. the following language: "By casting your vote via absentee ballot you will forgo the opportunity to consider and vote on any action from the floor on these proposals, if a meeting is held. This means that if there are amendments to these proposals your votes will not be counted on the final vote on these measures. If you desire to retain this ability, please attend any meeting in person. You may submit an absentee ballot and later choose to attend any meeting in person, in which case any in-person vote will prevail."
- (ii) Electronic Ballots. "Electronic ballot" means a ballot: (a) given by email, facsimile or posting on a website; (b) for which the identity of the Member submitting the ballot can be confirmed; and (c) for which the Member may receive a receipt of the electronic transmission and receipt of the Member's ballot. If an electronic ballot is posted on a website, a notice of the posting shall be sent to each Member that contains instructions on obtaining access to the posting on the website.

Section 3.11. Action Without a Meeting. Any action required or permitted by law to be taken at a meeting of the Members may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice, and without a vote if written consent specifically authorizing the proposed action is signed by Members holding at least the minimum number of votes necessary to authorize such action at a meeting if all Members entitled to vote thereon were present. Such consents shall be signed within 60 days after receipt of the earliest dated consent, dated, and delivered to the Association at its principal place of business in Texas. Such consents shall be filed with the minutes of the Association and shall have the same force and effect as a vote of the Members at a meeting. Within ten days after receiving authorization for any action by written consent, the Secretary shall give written notice to all Members entitled to vote who did not give their written consent fairly summarizing the material features of the authorized action.

<u>Section 3.12. Cumulative Voting.</u> Cumulative voting shall not be permitted.

ARTICLE IV - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 4.1. Authority; Number of Directors.

- (a) The affairs of the Association shall be governed by a Board of Directors. The number of Directors shall be fixed by the Board of Directors from time to time, but in all cases, after the period of Declarants Control Period, there shall be an odd number of Directors. The initial Directors shall be three in number and shall be those Directors named in the Certificate. The initial Directors shall serve until their successors are elected and qualified.
- (b) In accordance with Article III Section 5 of the Declaration, Declarants shall have the right to elect the Directors until January 1, 2025, or earlier, as set forth in the Declaration ("Declarants Control Period").
- (c) At the expiration or termination of the Declarants Control Period, the Declarants will thereupon call a meeting of the Members of the Association where the Declarants appointed Directors will resign and the Members, as applicable, will elect three new directors (to replace all Declarants appointed Directors) (the "Member Election Meeting"), one Director for a three-year term, one Director for a two-year term, and one Director for a one-year term (with the individual receiving the highest number of votes to serve the three-year term, the individual receiving the next highest number of votes to serve the two-year term, and the individual receiving the third highest number of votes to serve a one-year term). Upon expiration of the term of a Director elected by the Members pursuant to this *Section 4.1(c)*, his or her successor will be elected for a term of three years.
- (d) A Director takes office upon the adjournment of the meeting or balloting at which he is elected or appointed and, absent death, ineligibility, resignation, or removal, will hold office until his successor is elected or appointed.
- (e) Each Director, other than Directors appointed by Declarants, shall be a Member or an authorized representative of a Member, or in the case of corporate partnership or other entity ownership of a Lot, a duly authorized agent or representative of the corporate partnership or other entity Owner. The corporate partnership or other entity Owner shall be designated as the Director in all correspondence or other documentation setting forth the names of the Directors.
- Section 4. 2. Compensation. The Directors shall serve without compensation for such service.
- <u>Section 4.3. Nominations to Board of Directors</u>. Members may be nominated for election to the Board of Directors in either of the following ways:
- (a) A Member who is not a Director and who desires to run for election to that position shall be deemed to have been nominated for election upon his filing with the Board of Directors a written petition of nomination; or
- (b) A Director who is eligible to be re-elected shall be deemed to have been nominated for re-election to the position he holds by signifying his intention to seek reelection in a writing addressed to the Board of Directors.
- <u>Section 4.4. Vacancies on Board of Directors.</u> At such time as Declarants' right to appoint and remove Directors has expired or been terminated, if the office of any elected Director shall become vacant by reason of death, resignation, or disability, the remaining Directors, at a special meeting duly called for this

purpose, shall choose a successor who shall fill the unexpired term of the directorship being vacated. If there is a deadlock in the voting for a successor by the remaining Directors, the one Director with the longest continuous term on the Board shall select the successor. At the expiration of the term of his position on the Board of Directors, the successor Director shall be re-elected or his successor shall be elected in accordance with these Bylaws. Except with respect to Directors appointed by the Declarants, any Board Member whose term has expired or who has been removed from the Board must be elected by the Members.

<u>Section 4.5. Removal of Directors by Members</u>. Subject to the right of Declarants to nominate and appoint Directors as set forth in *Section 4.1* of these Bylaws, an elected Director may be removed, with or without cause, by a majority vote of a quorum of Members entitled to vote at a meeting of the Members.

<u>Section 4.6. Eligibility for Board Membership</u>. With the exception of Board member positions appointed by the Declarants as permitted by the Declaration, the Association may not restrict a Member's right to run for a position on the Board.

ARTICLEV - MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS

<u>Section 5.1. Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board shall be held annually or such other frequency as determined by the Board, at such place and hour as may be fixed from time to time by resolution of the Board.

<u>Section 5.2. Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board shall be held when called by the President of the Association, or by any two Directors, after not less than three days' notice to each Director.

<u>Section 5.3. Quorum.</u> A Majority of the number of Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Every act or decision done or made by a Majority of the Directors present at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.4. Open Board Meetings. All regular and special Board meetings must be open to all Members. However, the Board has the right to adjourn a meeting and reconvene in closed executive session to consider actions involving: (a) personnel; (b) pending or threatened litigation; (c) contract negotiations; (d) enforcement actions; (e) confidential communications with the Association's attorney; (f) matters involving the invasion of privacy of an individual Member, or matters that are to remain confidential by request of the affected parties and agreement of the Board. Following an executive session, any decision made by the Board in executive session must be summarized orally in general terms and placed in the minutes. The oral summary must include a general explanation of expenditures approved in executive session.

<u>Section 5.5. Location</u>. Except if otherwise held by electronic or telephonic means, a Board meeting must be held in Bexar County, Texas, or in a county adjacent to that county, as determined in the discretion of the Board.

<u>Section 5.6. Record; Minutes</u>. The Board shall keep a record of each regular or special Board meeting in the form of written minutes of the meeting. The Board shall make meeting records, including approved minutes, available to a Member for inspection and copying on the Member's written request to the Association's managing agent at the address appearing on the most recently filed management certificate or, if there is not a managing agent, to the Board.

Section 5.7. Notices. Members shall be given notice of the date, hour, place, and general subject of a regular or special board meeting, including a general description of any matter to be brought up for

deliberation in executive session. The notice shall be: (a) mailed to each Member not later than the tenth day or earlier than the 60th day before the date of the meeting; or (b) provided at least 72 hours before the start of the meeting by: (i) posting the notice in a conspicuous manner reasonably designed to provide notice to Members in a place located on the Association's common area or on any website maintained by the Association; and (ii) sending the notice by e-mail to each Member who has registered an e-mail address with the Association. It is the Member's duty to keep an updated e-mail address registered with the Association. The Board may establish a procedure for registration of email addresses, which procedure may be required for the purpose of receiving notice of Board meetings. If the Board recesses a regular or special Board meeting to continue the following regular business day, the Board is not required to post notice of the continued meeting if the recess is taken in good faith and not to circumvent this section. If a regular or special Board meeting is continued to the following regular business day, and on that following day the Board continues the meeting to another day, the Board shall give notice of the continuation in at least one manner as set forth above within two hours after adjourning the meeting being continued.

Section 5.9. Meeting without Prior Notice. The Board may meet by any method of communication, including electronic and telephonic, without prior notice to the Members, if each Board member may hear and be heard, and may take action by unanimous written consent to consider routine and administrative matters or a reasonably unforeseen emergency or urgent necessity that requires immediate Board action. Any action taken without notice to Members must be summarized orally, including an explanation of any known actual or estimated expenditures approved at the meeting, and documented in the minutes of the next regular or special Board meeting. The Board may not, without prior notice to the Members pursuant to Section 5.8 above, consider or vote on: (a) fines; (b) damage assessments; (c) initiation of foreclosure actions; (d) initiation of enforcement actions, excluding temporary restraining orders or violations involving a threat to health or safety; (e) increases in assessments; (f) levying of special assessments; or (g) a suspension of a right of a particular Member before the Member has an opportunity to attend a Board meeting to present the Member's position, including any defense, on the issue.

<u>Section 5.10. Telephone and Electronic Meetings</u>. Any action permitted to be taken by the Board without prior notice to Members may be taken by telephone or electronic methods by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation in such a meeting constitutes presence in person at the meeting, except where a person participates in the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

<u>Section 5.11. Consent in Writing</u>. Any action permitted to be taken by the Board by unanimous written consent occurs if all Directors individually or collectively consent in writing to such action. The written consent must be filed with the minutes of Board meetings. Action by written consent has the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of the Directors.

Section 5.12. Declarants Control Period. The provisions of this *Article V* do not apply to Board meetings during the Declarants Control Period (as set forth in the Declaration) during which period the Board may take action by unanimous written consent in lieu of a meeting, except with respect to: (a) adopting or amending the Declaration; (b) increasing the amount of regular assessments of the Association or adopting or increasing a special assessment; or (c) changing the voting rights of Members.

ARTICLE VI - POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD

<u>Section 6.1. Powers</u>. The Board shall have power and duty to undertake any of the following actions, in addition to those actions to which the Association is authorized to take in accordance with the Declaration:

- (a) suspend the right of a Member to use of the Alturas Common Properties during any period in which such Member shall be in default in the payment of any Assessment levied by the Association, or after notice and hearing, for any period during which an infraction of the Rules by such Member exists;
- (b) exercise for the Association all powers, duties and authority vested in or related to the Association and not reserved to the membership by other provisions of the Declaration;
- (d) to enter into any contract or agreement with a municipal agency or utility company to provide electric utility service to all or any portion of the Subdivision;
- (e) declare the office of a member of the Board to be vacant in the event such member shall be absent from three (3) consecutive regular meetings of the Board;
- (f) employ such employees or contractors as they deem necessary, and to prescribe their duties;
 - (g) as more fully provided in the Declaration, to:
 - (1) fix the amount of the Assessments against each Lot in advance of each annual assessment period and any other assessments provided by the Declaration; and
 - (2) foreclose the lien against any property for which Assessments are not paid after due date or to bring an action at law against the Member personally obligated to pay the same;
- (h) issue, or to cause an appropriate officer to issue, upon demand by any person, a certificate setting forth whether or not any Assessment has been paid and to levy a reasonable charge for the issuance of these certificates (it being understood that if a certificate states that an Assessment has been paid, such certificate shall be conclusive evidence of such payment);
- (i) procure and maintain adequate liability and hazard insurance on property owned by the Association;
- (j) cause all officers or employees having fiscal responsibilities to be bonded, as it may deem appropriate;
- (k) exercise such other and further powers or duties as provided in the Declaration or Bylaws or allowed by law; and
 - (l) hire an outside company to manage the affairs of the Association.

ARTICLE VII - OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES

<u>Section 7.1.</u> Enumeration of Offices. The officers of the Association shall be a President, Secretary and a Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board may from time to time create by resolution.

<u>Section 7.2.</u> Election of Officers. The election of officers shall take place at the first meeting of the Board following each annual meeting of the Members.

- <u>Section 7.3. Term.</u> The officers of the Association shall be elected annually by the Board and each shall hold office for one year unless he resigns sooner, or shall be removed or otherwise disqualified to serve.
- <u>Section 7.4. Special Appointments</u>. The Board may elect such other officers as the affairs of the Association may require, each of whom shall hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may, from time to time, determine.
- <u>Section 7.5 Resignation and Removal</u>. Any officer may be removed from office with or without cause by the Board. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board, the President, or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect on the date of receipt of such notice or at any later time specified therein, and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
- <u>Section 7.6. Vacancies</u>. A vacancy in any office may be filled through appointment by the Board. The officer appointed to such vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the term of the officer he replaces.
- <u>Section 7.7. Multiple Offices</u>. The offices of Secretary, Treasurer and President may be held by the same person.
- <u>Section 7.8. Duties</u>. The duties of the officers are as follows:
- (a) <u>President</u>. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board; shall see that orders and resolutions of the Board are carried out; shall sign all leases, mortgages, deeds and other written instruments and shall co-sign all checks and promissory notes.
- (b) <u>Secretary</u>. The Secretary shall record the votes and keep the minutes of all meetings and proceedings of the Board and of the Members; serve or cause to be served notice of meetings of the Board and of the Members; keep or cause to be kept appropriate current records showing the Members of the Association together with their addresses; and shall perform such other duties as required by the Board.
- (c) <u>Treasurer</u>. The Treasurer shall receive and deposit in appropriate bank accounts all monies of the Association and shall disburse such funds as directed by resolution of the Board; shall sign all checks and promissory notes of the Association; keep proper books of account in appropriate form such that they could be audited by a public accountant whenever ordered by the Board or the membership; and shall prepare an annual budget and a statement of income and expenditures to be presented to the membership at its regular meeting, and deliver a copy of each to the Members.
- <u>Section 7.9. Execution of Instruments.</u> Except when the Declaration requires execution of certain instruments by certain individuals, the Board may authorize any person to execute instruments on behalf of the Association, including without limitation checks from the Association's bank account. In the absence of Board designation, and unless otherwise provided herein, the President, Secretary and the Treasurer are the only persons authorized to execute instruments on behalf of the Association.

ARTICLE VIII - OTHER COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board may, by resolution adopted by affirmative vote of a Majority of the number of Directors fixed by these Bylaws, designate two or more Directors (with such alternates, if any, as may be deemed desirable) to constitute another committee or committees for any purpose; provided, that any such other committee or committees shall have and may exercise only the power of recommending action to the

Board of Directors and of carrying out and implementing any instructions or any policies, plans, programs and rules theretofore approved, authorized and adopted by the Board.

ARTICLE IX - BOOKS AND RECORDS

The books, records and papers of the Association shall at all times, during reasonable business hours, be subject to inspection by any Member. The Documents shall be available for inspection by any Member at the principal office of the Association, where copies may be purchased at reasonable cost.

ARTICLE X - ASSESSMENTS

As more fully provided in the Declaration, each Member is obligated to pay to the Association Assessments which are secured by a continuing lien upon the property against which the Assessments are made. Assessments shall be due and payable in accordance with the Declaration.

ARTICLE XI - CORPORATE SEAL

The Association may, but shall have no obligation to, have a seal in a form adopted by the Board.

ARTICLE XII - AMENDMENTS

Section 12.1. Amendments. These Bylaws may be amended by: (a) the Declarants prior to the sale of any Lot to a third party; (b) a Majority vote of the Board of Directors with the advance written consent of the Declarants until conveyance of the last Lot within the subdivision to a third party; or (c) by a vote of a majority of a quorum of Members present in person or by proxy at a regular or special meeting of the Members.

<u>Section 12.2. Conflict</u>. In the case of any conflict between the Certificate and these Bylaws, the Certificate shall control; and in the case of any conflict between the Declaration and these Bylaws, the Declaration shall control.

ARTICLE XIII - INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

The Association shall indemnify every Director and Officer and committee member of the Association against, and reimburse and advance to every Director and Officer for, all liabilities, costs and expenses incurred in connection with such directorship or office and any actions taken or omitted in such capacity to the greatest extent permitted under the Texas Business Organizations Code and all other applicable laws at the time of such indemnification, reimbursement or advance payment; provided, however, no Director or Officer shall be indemnified for: (a) a breach of duty of loyalty to the Association or its Members; (b) an act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of the law; (c) a transaction from which such Director or Officer received an improper benefit, whether or not the benefit resulted from an action taken within the scope of directorship or office; or (d) an act or omission for which the liability of such Director or Officer is expressly provided for by statute.

ARTICLE XIV - NON-PROFIT PURPOSE

In order to preserve the non-profit status of the Association, neither the Board, nor any Member thereof, shall do any act, authorize or suffer the doing of any act by an officer or employee of the Association on behalf of the Association which is inconsistent with the Declaration, Certificate of Formation, or these Bylaws or the Internal Revenue Code and any such act shall be ultra vires and void.

XV - MISCELLANEOUS

The fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the first day of January and end on the 31st day of December of every year, except that the first fiscal year shall begin on the date of incorporation.

Adopted this ______ day of February, 2014 by the Board of Directors.

1

R:\15000\15007.0000 RAJEEV PURI\.0006 Athena Domain, Inc\By-Laws.doex